Abebual Demilew Mesay Girma Elizabeth McElwee Saugato Datta Jeremy Barofsky Tolera Disasa Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia

June 2021

Impact Evaluation Report 134

Health



#### About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) promotes evidence-informed, equitable, inclusive and sustainable development. We support the generation and effective use of high-quality evidence to inform decision-making and improve the lives of people living in poverty in low- and middle-income countries. We provide guidance and support to produce, synthesise and quality assure evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost.

#### **3ie impact evaluations**

3ie-supported impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to funding rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design and that use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes and are useful in complex development contexts.

#### About this report

3ie accepted the final version of the report, *Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia*, as partial fulfilment of requirements under grant TW10.1125 awarded through the Innovations in Increasing Immunisation Evidence Programme. The content has been copy-edited and formatted for publication by 3ie.

The 3ie technical quality assurance team for this report comprises Mark Engelbert, Avantika Bagai, Kirthi Rao, Sayak Khatua, an anonymous external impact evaluation design expert reviewer and an anonymous external sector expert reviewer, with overall technical supervision by Sebastian Martinez. The 3ie editorial production team for this report comprises Anushruti Ganguly and Akarsh Gupta.

All of the content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors and omissions are also the sole responsibility of the authors. All affiliations of the authors listed on the title page are those that were in effect at the time the report was accepted. Please direct any comments or queries to the corresponding author, Abebual Demilew, at: abebual@zerihunassociates.com.

Funding for this impact evaluation was provided by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. A complete listing of all of 3ie's donors is available on the <u>3ie website</u>.

Suggested citation: Demilew, A, Girma, M, McElwee, E, Datta, S, Barofsky, J and Disasa, T, 2021. *Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 134. New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie). Available at: https://doi.org/10.23846/TW10IE134

Cover photo: Ayene / UNICEF Ethiopia

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2021

# Impacts of supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives on child immunisation in Ethiopia

Abebual Demilew Zerihun Associates

Mesay Girma Zerihun Associates, Ethiopia

Elizabeth McElwee ideas42, USA

Saugato Datta ideas42, USA

Jeremy Barofsky ideas42, USA

Tolera Disasa Marie Stopes International, Ethiopia

**Impact Evaluation Report 134** 

June 2021



## Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) for funding this study, as well as for the technical review and support during its design, implementation and evaluation. We would also like to thank our implementation partners at Marie Stopes International Ethiopia; participants at the 3ie-convened midterm workshop held in New Delhi; former ideas42 employees Elizabeth Long and Daniel Neri for their roles on the project in earlier stages; Tewodros Z Demelew for coordinating the survey operations in Ethiopia; and Zerihun Associates' survey enumerators and supervisors.

## **Executive summary**

Despite substantial economic and development progress, Ethiopia's full immunisation rates remain low, with only 39 per cent of children aged 12–13 months and 22 per cent of those in the three lowest wealth quintiles fully immunised in 2016. In this study, we sought to explore two questions: (1) how to engage communities by using behaviourally informed feedback to mobilise healthcare workers around improving immunisation rates; and (2) how to create a positive reinforcement loop for those improvements using nonmonetary rewards.

The key outcomes of interest for immunisation rates were children receiving a full dose of the DTP/PCV vaccine,<sup>1</sup> full immunisation coverage, and incomplete immunisation. This information was collected for each vaccine through household surveys conducted before the intervention was implemented, and upon completion of the intervention. For health extension worker (HEW) service provision, the outcomes of interest were an increase in home visits from baseline to follow-up and an increase in HEW self-reported efficacy, which were measured in baseline and follow-up surveys with the HEWs.

Our impact evaluation design was a randomised controlled trial, which used random assignment to control and treatment groups at the health post level. The main intervention was a tracking poster, called the 'Protected Children' poster, which used a stamp system as a simple and salient way for HEWs to track immunisation achievement and dropouts.

The theory of change for this intervention postulates that public feedback via the posters will lead to additional HEW outreach to families with children in need of immunisation. This outreach will then lead to parents taking their children to immunisation clinics at health posts or other centres for immunisation. Improved community immunisation rates will lead to recognition for HEWs, which will start a positive reinforcement cycle for them, leading to improvements in self-efficacy and increased engagement with the community. The increase in immunised children will lead to lower overall morbidity among children.

Our study area consisted of 90 health posts from Marie Stopes International Ethiopia field offices in Aris and East Shewa zones in 12 *woredas* (districts) of the Oromia region. Of these health posts, 45 were randomly assigned to the treatment group, with the remaining 45 assigned to the control group, which only received the Ministry of Health's standard training. Marie Stopes field staff were responsible for recruiting, training and monitoring the HEWs. Participants were not blinded to their treatment assignment as they had to undergo additional training.

We observe that there is no statistically significant treatment effect on children receiving a full dose of DPT/PCV. The mean difference in full dose DPT/PCV between treatment and control health posts implies a non-significant reduction of 1.13 percentage points (p-value = 0.506) from the behavioural intervention. We found a 7.7 per cent increase in HEWs' household visits (p-value = 0.2) as a result of the intervention. Although only marginally significant across some models, these results indicate that treatment may have induced changes to HEWs' behaviour and effort but had no effect on immunisation rates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Diphtheria, pertussis and tetanus/pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

Although we find some suggestive evidence that HEWs' behaviour changed because of the intervention, we do not observe changes in immunisation. One potential reason is that the data were collected during a time when overall immunisation rates increased rapidly. Given other health system changes and economic growth that occurred in Ethiopia during data collection, we were not able to differentiate the additional impact of treatment from the underlying upward trend.

Also of note, the time between baseline and follow-up was substantially extended compared to our pre-analysis plan because of civil unrest and political instability in Ethiopia during data collection. These results indicate that even when evidence has been developed indicating that behavioural interventions are effective, they must be tested in a wide range of contexts to build evidence on what circumstances maximise the likelihood of impact.

## Contents

Acknowledgments	i
Executive summary	ii
List of figures and tables	v
Abbreviations and acronyms	vi
1. Introduction	1
2. Background and context	1
2.1 Impact evaluation	3
2.2 Intervention and research hypotheses	3
2.3 Theory of change	5
2.4 Context	8
2.5 Timeline	9
3. Intervention and evaluation	.10
3.1 Evaluation and design methods	. 10
3.2 Implementation in practice	. 14
4. Impact analysis and results of key evaluation questions	.16
4.1 Immunisation outcomes	. 17
4.2 HEW service provision outcomes	. 23
4.3 Divergence from the PAP	. 24
4.4 Cost of the intervention	. 25
4.5 Contamination	. 25
5. Recommendations and conclusions	26
5.1 Discussion	. 26
5.2 Policy implications	. 30
Online appendixes	31
References	32

## List of figures and tables

Figure 1: 'Protected Children' posters	4
Figure 2: Initial theory of change	5
Figure 3: Updated theory of change with description of components after ECIIN	
cancellation	6
Figure 4: Timeline of intervention	9
Figure 5: Sampling strategy	10
Figure 6: Map of Arsi and East Shewa zones of Oromia region	11
Figure 7: Behavioural economics framework	15
Figure 8: Nature of intervention-related expenditures	25
Table 1: Summary statistics from follow-up survey of primary and secondary outcome	es18
Table 2: Linear regression results, primary outcomes	19
Table 3: Heterogeneous treatment effects on areas with civil strife (primary outcomes	;) 22
Table 4: Survey attrition	23
Table 5: Linear regression results for effect of intervention on HEW household visits.	23
Table 6: Programme participation	26

## Abbreviations and acronyms

DPT	Diphtheria, pertussis and tetanus
ECIIN	Ethiopia Child Immunisation and Information Network
HEW	Health extension worker
HP	Health post
MSI-E	Marie Stopes International Ethiopia
PAP	Pre-analysis plan
PCV	Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

## 1. Introduction

To make further progress in improving immunisation rates, Zerihun Associates – in partnership with Marie Stopes International Ethiopia (MSI-E) and ideas42, a non-profit firm that uses behavioural science to improve social outcomes – identified bottlenecks to immunisation, then created and implemented an intervention to address them. We did so by using behavioural economics to develop multiple designs, which were refined through an iterative process based on implementation feasibility, how well the design addressed the identified bottlenecks, and the costs associated with piloting and scale-up.

This intervention aimed to increase understanding of how behavioural economics can be used in healthcare, an area currently underexplored in the literature. We sought to explore two questions: (1) how to engage communities by using behaviourally informed feedback to mobilise healthcare workers around improving immunisation rates; and (2) how to create a positive reinforcement loop for those improvements using nonmonetary rewards.

This report first presents the intervention and research questions, including a discussion of the changes to the initial research questions. We then discuss the implementation of the intervention in detail, including changes made during implementation, and finally report on the impact that the intervention had on immunisation rates in the Oromia region in Ethiopia.

## 2. Background and context

Despite substantial economic and human development progress, Ethiopia's full immunisation rates remain low. In 2011, only 24 per cent of Ethiopian children aged 12–13 months were fully immunised with all basic vaccinations, and rates for the lowest wealth quintile were below 20 per cent (CSA and ICF 2012). In 2016, this rate improved, with 39 per cent of children 12–13 months being fully immunised. However, the rate for the lowest three wealth quintiles was 22 per cent (CSA and ICF 2016). This coverage rate is low compared to the global immunisation rate of 86 per cent of children aged 12–13 months worldwide, and 74 per cent in all African countries (Feldstein et al. 2017).

Full immunisation coverage for children under the age of 12 months in Ethiopia is defined as a child receiving a Bacillus Calmette-Guérin vaccination against tuberculosis; three doses of diphtheria, pertussis, and tetanus (DPT) vaccine; three doses of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV); at least three doses of polio vaccine; and one dose of measles vaccine (CSA and ICF 2016). WHO recommendations for immunisations among children under 12 months include all the vaccines mentioned for Ethiopia, as well as three doses of hepatitis B, three doses of haemophilus influenza type B, at least two doses of rotavirus and one dose of rubella (WHO 2019).

While there have been many attempts to involve communities in increasing immunisation rates, such efforts have mostly focused either on increasing awareness or interest in immunisation (Pramanik et al. 2018) or have employed direct (often financial) incentives (Basinga et al. 2011; Flodgren et al. 2011). Underlying the use of these techniques is the standard neoclassical economic assumption that people's actions directly reflect their intentions. This belief is standard and is frequently correct. However, behavioural science shows that there are many important situations wherein people's actions may not be consistent with their intentions or desires.

In particular, it is possible for a mother to be convinced of the importance of immunisation without her necessarily taking the required steps to immunise her children; therefore, further education or awareness-building may have limited effects. Additionally, a health extension worker (HEW) may have the intention to follow up with every child due for an immunisation visit, but may also have limited cognitive bandwidth to determine which children need follow-up, or may be distracted by other duties. As immunisation clinics are time-sensitive, ensuring that all eligible children attend clinics would increase their cost-effectiveness and efficiency.

Behavioural economics research shows that feedback focusing on making injunctive norms (what most people typically approve or disapprove of) more salient (Cialdini et al. 1990; 2006) and aligning injunctive norms with descriptive norms (what most people typically do) leads to an increase in the desired actions (Cialdini 2003). In a study looking at recycling habits, Cialdini and colleagues (1990) found that study subjects' littering habits improved (from 25.42% of people littering to only 10%) when their attention was drawn to an injunctive norm against littering. Another study looking at injunctive norms in relation to theft of natural resources and recycling called for further research into how communications can be structured in a way that makes messages more salient during the moment of action, not just when a decision is made (Cialdini 2003).

A study on vaccine use in Sierra Leone explores how descriptive norms can link to injunctive norms to improve vaccine uptake. It found that when a vaccine had a high perceived benefit (positive injunctive norm) linking it to a signal that a child received the vaccine (in this case, a bracelet), this had a large positive effect (an increase of 13.7 percentage points). Additionally, the bracelets provided social proof to the community that the parent was properly vaccinating their child (Karing 2018). These studies all touch on the evidence that most individuals make efforts to conform to behaviours that they perceive as social norms. Thus, correcting misperceptions or making the injunctive norm more salient leads to improved behaviours (Datta and Mullainathan 2014).

As with the literature on feedback making injunctive norms more salient, the literature on nonmonetary rewards does not include situations in which individual healthcare workers and communities are working together to improve a community's results. A study in Zambia explored the effects of providing non-financial and financial incentives to individual condom sellers. They found that the sale of condoms by hairdressers who were in the treatment group receiving nonmonetary rewards (stars posted on a progress thermometer and an invitation to a recognition ceremony for the highest sellers) were double those of either the control group or the treatment groups that received monetary incentives (Ashraf et al. 2012).

Ashraf and colleagues' work builds on the theoretical work of Besley and Ghatak (2005), which postulates that nonmonetary incentives are most powerful for individuals aligned with the mission of their organisation. In addition, social norm messaging among health workers increases the use of long-acting reversible contraception (Barofsky et al. 2018). Related to immunisation directly, social signalling through a simple, nonmonetary intervention has been found to increase completion of vaccination schedules for children in Sierra Leone (Karing 2018).

#### 2.1 Impact evaluation

This evaluation sought to provide evidence on the efficacy of supportive feedback coupled with nonmonetary incentives in engaging HEWs and their respective communities to raise immunisation rates.

The main research questions sought to assess the extent to which supportive feedback and nonmonetary incentives could accomplish the following:

- 1. Bringing children into the health system for their first immunisations
- 2. Keeping children in the health system for continued childhood immunisations
- 3. Increasing the frequency of home visits by HEWs
- 4. Increasing the self-reported efficacy of HEWs

Our impact evaluation design was a randomised controlled trial that used random assignment to control and treatment groups at the health post (HP) level, the lowest health service delivery unit in Ethiopia. An HP has a catchment area roughly equivalent to a village, though it may sometimes include two villages. Cluster randomisation at the HP level enabled us to answer key research questions while respecting constraints on operational feasibility. Comparing treatment and control groups allowed us to quantitatively assess the impact of the intervention. The project utilised data on child-level immunisation status obtained from baseline and follow-up household surveys.

Some 45 of 90 HPs from the MSI-E field offices of Aris and East Shewa zones in 12 *woredas* (districts) in the Oromia region were randomly assigned to the treatment group, with the remaining 45 HPs assigned to the control group. In total, 2,700 households, equally split between treatment and control communities (based on their HP) were surveyed to collect baseline and follow-up data. Thirty households with children under three years of age were randomly sampled within each HP's catchment area.

At the follow-up survey, the same sample households were surveyed and all children below five years of age were included. This allowed us to collect data on all children surveyed at baseline. Data were collected using World Bank Survey Solutions Computer-Assisted Personal Interviewing® electronic questionnaires and analysed using STATA® software.

#### 2.2 Intervention and research hypotheses

The objective of this intervention was to apply a behavioural science approach to increase uptake of all relevant vaccines for children aged under one year. The primary hypothesis was that a behavioural intervention that combined salient injunctive norms, social proof and nonmonetary rewards using 'Protected Children' posters would have positive average impacts on full immunisation coverage and the full dose of DPT/PCV. The proposed intervention aimed to evaluate the following questions, under the categories of immunisation outcomes and HEW service provision outcomes:

#### 2.2.1 Immunisation

- 1. To what extent can nonmonetary incentives and various frequencies of supportive feedback bring children into the health system for their first immunisations?
- 2. To what extent can they keep children in the health system for continued childhood immunisations?

#### 2.2.2 HEW service provision

- 1. To what extent can they increase the frequency of home visits by HEWs?
- 2. To what extent can they increase the self-reported efficacy of HEWs?

For immunisations, the outcome of interest was vaccination dropout rate, or whether a child received each vaccine according to the recommended vaccination schedule. The outcome variable 'vaccination dropout rates' refers to DTP1–DTP3 dropout rates, or loss to follow-up between the first DTP and last DTP vaccination. The secondary outcomes were measles vaccination coverage and no vaccinations. This information was collected for each vaccine through household surveys conducted before the intervention was implemented, at baseline, on completion of the intervention and during follow-up. For HEW service provision, the outcome of interest was an increase in home visits from baseline to follow-up and an increase in HEW self-reported efficacy, which were measured in baseline and follow-up surveys with the HEWs.

The main intervention was tracking 'Protected Children' posters, which incorporate a stamp system (Figure 1).



#### Figure 1: 'Protected Children' posters

Photo credit: Project team

The posters and stamp system were designed to be a simple and salient way to track immunisation achievement and dropouts (Appendix A and Appendix B). These posters were hung on the wall of the HP to provide positive reinforcement for HEWs of their progress and to provide easy visual tracking. Each square on the poster represented a child and their specific immunisation schedule. The square was divided into four smaller squares, with each section representing a follow-up immunisation visit of 6 weeks, 10 weeks, 14 weeks and 9 months. Each time the caregiver and their infant went to the HP for an immunisation, the caregiver put a stamp in the appropriate section of their child's square and additionally put a stamp on the immunisation card if they wished.

Caregivers chose from five stamps with aspirational or cultural values: a graduation cap, a football, a baby, a giraffe or a woman holding a child. When a child was fully immunised (i.e. all four squares had been completed), a completion symbol was placed over that square – a lion, star or sunflower – as visual recognition of those children who were fully immunised. The mother also took home a completion symbol, which was a black and white printout on a piece of paper. Over the duration of the research, the posters filled up with stamps and then filled up with completion symbols. The HEWs were given the option to leave the completed posters on the wall of the HP or take them down.

Initially, along with the tracking posters, the intervention was to include outreach SMS messages for HEWs. This was called the Ethiopia Child Immunisation and Information Network (ECIIN). A text message was to be sent to HEWs three days prior to the upcoming immunisation clinic, encouraging them to take a moment to make a plan to perform outreach specifically for immunisation. This message was designed to cut through the noise of the many activities that HEWs face on a daily basis and focus their energy when it is most applicable and effective to address immunisation defaulters. However, due to political unrest, which caused internet service inaccessibility because of the state of emergency declared by the Ethiopian government, the ECIIN was not implemented.

#### 2.3 Theory of change

The theory of change (Figure 2) outlines the hypothesised causal pathway for inputs, outputs, as well as short- and long-term outcomes (both the initial theory and the updated theory once the ECIIN was cancelled).

#### Figure 2: Initial theory of change



The intervention uses feedback on individual HEWs' performance in terms of immunisation coverage through posters that make full immunisation of children a salient, injunctive norm. Nonmonetary awards spur HEWs to close the immunisation gap by driving up immunisation rates. Individual feedback included: providing information on the change in her own relative performance; immediate and salient tracking on how many children were completing all immunisations; and an easy visual showing which children were defaulting on their immunisations. This feedback was made public to the community, thus driving the nonmonetary rewards of social signalling through receipt of progress stamps and immunisation completion symbols to recognise HPs and households that demonstrated improvements.

The theory of change postulates that public feedback will lead to additional outreach to families with children in need of immunisation. This outreach will lead to caregivers taking their children to immunisation clinics at the HP or other centres. The improved community immunisation rates will lead to greater recognition of HEWs, which will start a

positive reinforcement cycle for them, leading to improvements in self-efficacy and increased engagement with the community. The increase in immunised children will lead to lower overall morbidity for children. Below we detail the transmission routes and assumptions underlying each.

This theory of change is based on assumptions that community members see and understand the posters, and care about immunisation performance. If any of these aspects were missing, then the poster would not be an appropriate avenue for public recognition. In the areas where we implemented the design, scoping interviews and user testing of the posters showed us that it was likely that the community cared about immunisation. Additionally, when people in the health facility saw the posters, they asked what they represented because the images sparked their curiosity.

Since complete vaccination of a child under 12 months of age should be completed by the time they are nine months old, it is anticipated that intervention activities, including training and supportive supervision of the intervention's rollout, should be able to translate into full vaccination coverage within one year of complete intervention adherence.

As mentioned above, initially HEWs were to receive reminders about immunisation clinics and feedback on their work via SMS. This was meant to motivate them to conduct more home visits, thus leading to more parents bringing children to be immunised. Then, the HEWs were going to receive nonmonetary recognition via SMS and public display of the posters. Since the ECIIN system was not implemented, we pivoted our design to fully focus on the posters as public recognition for both HEWs and parents.

The fact that the ECIIN system was not implemented represents an important lesson related to independent verification of project activities (using mobile service provider records). Future implementation of interventions based on these designs should include this validation feature.

## Figure 3: Updated theory of change with description of components after ECIIN cancellation



The following provides a description of the mechanisms in the updated theory of change:

• Feedback to HEWs leads to more home visits – The key mechanism is that the poster makes it easier for HEWs to track children who have not received timely immunisations. Additionally, this feedback makes immunisation status and non-compliance more visible in the community, leading the HEWs to take action. The assumption is that HEWs have the resources – including time, money and mental bandwidth – to complete home visits. HEWs should also believe that home visits have value, that they are an integral part of their role as community health leaders, and that they will result in parents taking their children to be immunised. Under the initial plan with the ECIIN, HEWs would have also received a reminder SMS before immunisation clinics to look at the posters and reach out to families who have children in need of an immunisation. This reminder would likely have increased the number of home visits and parents who attended the immunisation clinics.

- More home visits lead to parents taking children to be immunised The causal mechanism is that a visit by a HEW will provide sufficient motivation for the parents to take their child to a health facility. In order for this to happen, there is an assumption that the parents will understand the importance of immunisation following the HEW visit. We also assume that the HEW will be able to visit the home when decision makers are present.
- Parents taking children to be immunised leads to increased immunisation rates – If parents take their child to be immunised, the vaccines are effective, and health workers record the immunisation, then immunisation rates for the community will increase. The facility also needs to have vaccines available (i.e. no stockouts) and parents need to be able to afford the vaccines (i.e. there are no hidden fees at the healthcare facility). Even without stockouts, if HEWs were under orders to prevent wastage by not opening new vials unless enough children were in the office to use an entire vaccine vial, this would also represent a threat to our theory of change. We did not encounter this situation, but if sufficiently prevalent, it would represent another constraint to the intervention's theory of change.
- Increased immunisation rates lead to HEWs receiving nonmonetary **recognition** – By increasing immunisation rates, the community and the HEWs will be able to see the community's statistics improve. If they improve enough for community members to see improved health outcomes, HEWs will earn nonmonetary recognition from the community for their efforts. The key assumption is that improvement will be enough to earn recognition. This recognition will create a positive feedback loop for more HEW home visits and greater community mobilisation, which we predicted to be the main activities that would increase immunisation. Recognition is also gained among caregivers of children, who can pick out a stamp to add to the poster with each immunisation, thus encouraging and reminding them to come back for the next round. The 'Protected Children' poster on the wall of the HP provides positive reinforcement for HEWs regarding their progress, and provides easy visual tracking. Caregivers choose from five stamps that may hold aspirational or cultural value. When a child is fully immunised (i.e. all four squares are completed), a completion symbol will be placed over that square as visual recognition of those children who are fully immunised. The mother can take home a completion symbol as well. In the original plan with the ECIIN system, HEWs would have received recognition and comparisons to other HEWs via SMS as well as via the poster, thus strengthening their awareness of supervision of improvements in their work.
- Increased immunisation rates lead to decreased child morbidity and mortality: If vaccines are effective, child morbidity and mortality should decline (assuming that preventable childhood illnesses are a measurable cause of morbidity). Vaccines should also not be counterfeit and should have been appropriately stored and checked for expiration dates to maintain their efficacy.

#### 2.4 Context

#### 2.4.1 Local context and participants

The intervention areas – Aris and East Shewa zones – cover 62 government health centres based in urban and semi-urban areas of Oromia, a populous region with poor immunisation coverage (12% according to the 2012 Demographic and Health Survey [CSA and ICF 2012]).

This programme targeted entire communities, which are composed of HEWs, households with unimmunised children and the broader community. While households with unimmunised children were the ultimate targets, the programme sought to explore how communities could empower these households to act. Thus, we considered the entire community as programme participants. At the same time, the intervention built on the existing health system, which enabled HEWs to identify households with children in need of immunisation.

The intervention was implemented in MSI-E's Aris and East Shewa zones field offices in Oromia. This has implications for the transferability of findings to other parts of Ethiopia as well as to non-Ethiopian settings. The intervention areas have an identical health system structure and infrastructure compared to the rest of Ethiopia: health centres typically supervise four HPs; most villages have their own HP and only a handful of villages share HPs; and each HP has one or two HEWs who provide information to that community and reach out to individual households. HEWs are Ministry of Health employees and are part of the community leadership. From a systems and infrastructure point of view, the threats to transferability of insights to the rest of Ethiopia are relatively limited.

The choice of community feedback mechanism (i.e. whether to disseminate feedback to communities using local leaders or public posters, or whether to rely on SMS messages) was driven by the social and cultural context in Oromia. To the extent that some social and cultural features in Oromia that influenced this choice may differ from those in other parts of Ethiopia, our intervention modalities may need to be adapted if scaled up to other parts of Ethiopia.

These features include relatively high rates of incomplete immunisation, overall support for immunisation as an effective health policy tool, and the existence of capable and trusted local HEWs. In addition, the intervention was implemented in the context of significant civil unrest. Although our qualitative work indicated that HEWs were trusted, instability and lack of trust in the government may have hindered the intervention's effectiveness.

Finally, we note that while this evaluation is intended to be informative in other resourceconstrained, low-immunisation settings beyond Ethiopia, differences in the health system and the role of community health workers within it (e.g. whether they are paid, as in Ethiopia, or unpaid, as in several other countries in the region) will naturally influence the extent to which this assumption is justified. For example, a finding that non-financial recognition-based incentives are effective may not carry over to settings where HEWs are unremunerated. Other work using non-pecuniary social signalling to increase immunisation also indicates that one of the most important determinants of effectiveness relates to pre-existing perceptions of vaccine effectiveness (Karing 2018). The study from Sierra Leone supports immunisation completion benefits that can occur using social norms outside of Ethiopia (ibid.).

#### 2.5 Timeline

The baseline survey occurred in April 2016. Implementation began in September 2016 and continued through February 2018, with two rounds of data collection during this period and a follow-up survey in May and June 2018. Final data analysis occurred in January–March 2019.



#### Figure 4: Timeline of intervention

#### 2.5.1 Detailed timeline

- January–February 2016: problem definition, diagnosis of behavioural barriers and intervention design
- April 2016: baseline survey and user testing of intervention design
- September 2016: full-scale intervention started with stakeholder meetings
  - Delay of planned June–August implementation because HEWs were fully occupied during the summer, attending trainings run by the government.
  - Training for the posters included participation of extension workers from all 45 HPs. In addition, immunisation focal persons from the health centres and *woredas* of the HPs were included in the training, due to their support and follow-up needed in the future. A total of 85 HEWs and 29 immunisation focal persons participated. Training was mainly practical, and all HEWs practised on the posters. Materials needed for the intervention were distributed to HEWs for their HPs by the end of the training.
- September 2016–February 2018: MSI-E monitored implementation
- February 2018: intervention completed
- May-June 2018: follow-up survey conducted
- January 2019–March 2019: final data analysis

## 3. Intervention and evaluation

#### 3.1 Evaluation and design methods

#### 3.1.1 Ethical considerations

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Ethiopian Public Health Institute (24 May 2016, Ref. #6.13/504). In addition, measures were taken to ensure ethical research. For each survey participant, consent forms were read, and verbal consent secured. Additionally, participants were informed that the information we obtained would remain strictly confidential and anonymous, and that they were free to stop the interview at any time. All data collected were anonymised and stored in secure locations.

#### 3.1.2 Sampling strategy and methods

This study used cluster randomisation at the HP level to identify intervention impact. Both the control and treatment groups received the standard Ethiopian Ministry of Health procedures for health promotion activities and the immunisation schedule. The treatment group additionally received a behaviourally informed feedback and nonmonetary reward intervention.

The behaviourally informed intervention took place in 45 randomly selected HPs in the Arsi and East Shewa zones of Oromia. Randomisation was performed using a pseudorandom number generator. The other 45 randomly selected HP catchment areas remained controls for the study duration. In total, 90 HPs were selected, and 30 households were randomly sampled from each HP catchment cluster to be included in the household survey. In total, 2,700 households were surveyed, with equal numbers (1,350 households) selected for the treatment group (HPs with HEW outreach movement prompts and stamp system) and the control group (selected out of the outreach movement prompts and stamp system) (Figure 5).



#### Figure 5: Sampling strategy

Note: HH = household

The recent household census of HP catchments conducted by the health extension programme of the regional government was used as a sampling frame to randomly select 30 sample households in each cluster. All households with children aged less than 23 months were included in the random selection of survey households. To capture the same cohort of children targeted at the baseline, our follow-up survey covered all children under four years old in the sampled households.

#### 3.1.3 Project area selection justification

The primary considerations in selecting Arsi and East Shewa for this pilot intervention were: (1) the zones have a large number of districts with high dropout rates and HP catchment areas have some level of mobile phone coverage; and (2) the zones are geographically accessible to ensure the HP sample size is sufficient to rigorously evaluate the impact of the intervention. The overall selection frame was thus based on dropout rates, feasibility and the pilot's operational considerations.

Between the two zones, 8 *woredas* were selected based on the highest dropout rates. When a *woreda* was selected, all health centres and their attached HPs were automatically eligible for selection. Households from within these HPs were randomly sampled for inclusion in the baseline and follow-up surveys. There are, on average, two HEWs in each of the 129 selected HPs. On average, selected *woredas* have higher dropout rates than other districts in the region.



Figure 6: Map of Arsi and East Shewa zones of Oromia region

Source: UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs<sup>2</sup>

#### 3.1.4 Power calculations

The Oromia region in Ethiopia has low levels of immunisation coverage. The 2011 Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey calculated the current full immunisation rate for the region at 12 per cent. Therefore, we used that as our baseline, as opposed to the national rate of 24 per cent full immunisation coverage. Rates for households in the lowest three wealth quintiles nationally are less than 20 per cent (CSA and ICF 2012). For these sample size calculations, we assumed a significance level (an alpha) of 0.05 and a power level (a beta) of 80 per cent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> https://reliefweb.int/map/ethiopia/reference-map-oromiya-region-ethiopia

As we employed a cluster-level design, we also estimated the intra-cluster correlation. Using the Ethiopia Demographic and Health Survey data, we estimated it to be between 0.21 and 0.25 and compared it to published values in the literature. Banerjee and colleagues (2010) found an intra-cluster correlation of 0.21 related to community immunisation in India, while a working paper from 2010 estimated the average intra-cluster correlation for full immunisation rates from 28 nationally representative demographic and health surveys in Sub-Saharan Africa to be 0.21 (Boco 2010). To remain consistent with the literature, we used a correlation of 0.21 for our calculations and performed a sensitivity analysis to ensure that it did not significantly affect the sample size.

Power calculations were completed using a 3ie sample size minimum detectable effect calculator with the parameters above. It estimated a minimum detectable effect of 8.6 per cent. Thus, we expected to be able to detect an increase in the full immunisation rate as small as 8.6% and a reduction in vaccine dropout by 8.6% – that is, for example, we expected to detect an effect in the reduction of dropout as low as 1.2 percentage points, that is to 12.3% from its current 13.5%.

Related studies in immunisation detected similar or higher-effect sizes. Banerjee and colleagues (2010) detected an impact of more than 50 per cent in immunisation with a nonmonetary incentive given to households, while Ryman and colleagues (2011) used a traditional training intervention to detect an increase of 30 per cent in full immunisation coverage in India.

#### 3.1.5 Data collection instrument and fieldwork procedures

The questionnaires, baseline and follow-up were designed and tested to capture background information on household composition, basic demographics, education, and socio-economic and health status (Appendix C). However, the main focus was placed on information regarding health-seeking behaviour and immunisation levels. The questionnaire was translated into Afan Oromo, a commonly used language in the study area, and programmed using Survey Solutions® electronic survey software.

Prior to the baseline and follow-up surveys, enumerators employed by Zerihun Associates were given week-long trainings covering all aspects of the baseline and follow-up survey modules. Supervisors were deployed to follow up interviews and to ensure quality of data. Lists of HP clusters and corresponding household samples were provided to the field team. Thirty households per cluster were interviewed in their homes in both the control and treatment groups, totalling 2,700 respondents. Data from each interview were scrutinised by the survey supervisors and for a second time by the field manager. Every effort was made to ensure that the baseline and follow-up respondents were the same.

#### 3.1.6 Data analysis plan

The study's primary hypothesis is that a behavioural intervention that combines HEW outreach movement prompts and stamp systems may have positive average impacts on full immunisation coverage and vaccine dropouts. We grouped these into three primary outcomes: full immunisation coverage, full dose of DPT/PCV and incomplete immunisation. For these outcome variables we applied standard definitions from WHO guidelines. We also explored the secondary outcomes of measles immunisation coverage and no immunisations.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The 'no immunisations' outcome included instances where immunisation data were missing.

The outcome variable of full immunisation is based on five individual immunisation variables: (1) Bacillus Calmette-Guérin and polio at birth; (2) polio 1, DPT-Hep1-Hib1, PCV1 and rota 1 at six weeks after birth; (3) polio 2, DPT-Hep1-Hib2, PCV2 and rota 2 at 10 weeks after birth; (4) polio 3, DPT-Hep1-Hib2, and PCV3 T 14 weeks after birth; and (5) measles and vitamin A at 9 months after birth. Each variable has two responses: '0' – denoting 'not received the vaccine'; and '1' – denoting 'yes, received a vaccine'. We created a new variable (labelled 'full\_immunization'), which was then recoded as '1' if the child had received all doses of the vaccinations or '0' if the child had missed one or more doses.

The outcome variable 'vaccination dropout rate' refers to DTP1–DTP3 dropout rates and PCV1–PCV3 dropout rates. These indicators are measured as the absolute difference in percentage points between DTP1 and DTP3 or PCV1 and PCV3 in the study area, based on population-weighted average estimates. If the child received all three doses of both DTP and PCV, they were reported as 'full dose of DPT/PCV'.

The study measured exposure variables such as sex of child, age of mother, mother's occupation, number of children living in the household, religion, mother's education, father's education, household well-being, awareness of interventions of the project, distance to HP, ease of travel to HP, and use of HEW outreach. Place of residence and HP catchment areas were considered for the behaviourally informed exposure variables.

For both outcome indicators, the main analysis used a household survey. The change in these indicators between baseline and follow-up was considered as the impact of the project. An analysis of covariance estimation approach was adopted to measure how the project reduced dropouts and improved full immunisation. Similar analysis was carried out for other dimensions of marginalisation (e.g. children from poor households, mothers engaged in earning, parent/caregiver's level of education, etc.) and core immunisation outcomes.

The primary model was the following:

#### $Y_{ipt=1} = \alpha + \beta_1 treatment_i + \beta_2 Y_{ipt=0} + M_{ijt=0} + X'\beta + \delta'\gamma + \epsilon_{ipt}$

where  $Y_{iwt}$  is full immunisation or vaccine dropout for child *i*, in HP *p*, and during the follow-up period *t* = 1. Our coefficient of interest is an indicator for the child being located in a treatment HP,  $\beta_1$ . A control is included,  $Y_{ipt=0}$ , that reflects the outcome variable in the baseline period.  $M_{ijt=0}$  is an indicator variable that reflects whether the baseline variable is missing. *X'* is a vector of stratification variables (use of HEW outreach, recognition of intervention, sex of child, distance to HP and ease of travel to HP).

Stratification variables were chosen by balancing the need to include characteristics likely to be associated with the outcomes of interest against feasibility of randomising increasingly small strata. We therefore focused on a combination of important child- and provider-level characteristics likely to impact HP access. Models were also run that included the variables that were not balanced at baseline, represented as  $\delta'$ , which include gender of household head, religion, monthly food expenditure, type of dwelling, days household went to sleep hungry, size of farming plots, perceptions of the local clinic being well-equipped for immunisation and distance to the nearest HP. Standard errors were clustered at the level of randomisation; that is, the HP level.

The main outcomes in this study were self-reported. Consequently, they could be subject to recall bias or social desirability bias differentially by treatment group and therefore bias our results. However, the survey also included a question for enumerators to verify immunisation status using vaccination cards. Most households (72%) reported that they did possess the vaccination card, but that is was not available at the time of survey; 20 per cent were able to verify their self-reported immunisation status by showing their vaccination card to the enumerator. The remaining households either never received a card or were not immunised.

Among the subset of individuals that were able to verify vaccination status using the card, we can be confident that recall and social desirability bias do not apply. To determine whether these biases are differential between treatment and control groups, and therefore impact the estimated treatment effect, we re-ran the treatment effect models only for those that were able to verify immunisation status with their vaccination card.

To estimate heterogeneous treatment effects, we ran models that investigated whether treatment effects varied by levels of civil strife in the areas around HPs (high, medium, low) during the treatment period and by levels of treatment fidelity (high, medium, low) using the following specification:

$$Y_{ipt=1} = \alpha + \beta_{1} treatment + \beta_{2} Y_{ipt=0} + \beta_{3} treatment_{i} * civil\_strife_{p} + M_{ijt=0} + X'\beta + \delta'\gamma + \epsilon_{ipt}$$

The  $\beta_3$  coefficient shows the differential effect of treatment in areas that experienced low levels of civil strife compared to the reference category (areas that experienced some civil strife). This intended to explore whether the civil strife that occurred in our treatment areas impacted the effect of intervention.

To address survey attrition, estimates were executed to determine whether survey attrition was related to treatment status:

$$A_{ipt=1} = \alpha + \beta_1 treatment_i + X'\beta + \epsilon_{ipt}$$

where  $A_{ipt=1}$  is an indicator of whether household *i* in HP *p* dropped out of the study by not responding or being unable to be tracked for the follow-up survey. All other variable definitions remained the same. We tested  $\beta = 0$  to determine whether survey attrition was related to treatment status. Since treatment status was not found to significantly affect attrition at 5 per cent significance level, all our estimates proceeded without any adjustment.

#### 3.2 Implementation in practice

This first phase of the project involved three types of activities: diagnosis work for refinement of the intervention design; initial consultations with and approval from government entities and regulatory bodies; and preparation for the baseline survey and roll-out of the design.

ideas42 led the diagnosis and refining of the intervention design, with input from both Zerihun Associates and MSI-E. The process began with a review of the previously

completed desk research on immunisation issues in Ethiopia and background on the Oromia region. From there, ideas42 completed its proprietary behavioural mapping process (Figure 7) to identify potential behavioural barriers and factors associated with channels of outreach preventing higher immunisation rates in Oromia.

The process was completed from the point of view of HEWs, as well as from the perspective of caregivers. Each of these barriers and channel factors were investigated during qualitative interviews between ideas42 staff and HEWs, their supervisors and women in the Arsi zone of Oromia during ideas42's site visit.





The diagnosis phase leverages insights from behavioural economics, a discipline that draws on economics and psychology to create a deeper and more realistic understanding of human behaviour. Behavioural economics demonstrates that interpersonal interactions and the design of spaces, programmes and processes can have a significant impact on decision-making and behaviour.

Our research methodology has been developed to better understand how these interpersonal interactions and environmental contexts affect how, when and why providers decide to provide health services (or not to) or, in some cases, why they fail to make a decision at all. We explored the behavioural factors that influence HEWs' intentions and actions to provide immunisation, but also caregivers' intentions and actions to seek out immunisation. Ultimately, we identified key behavioural barriers to HEWs' behaviour change related to providing immunisation services.

Following the site visit, ideas42 translated the diagnosis work into designs in consultation with Zerihun Associates and MSI-E. The key behavioural barriers identified during the diagnosis work, which the designs aimed to address, were: lack of feedback to HEWs; HEWs being overloaded with multiple tasks or messages and not having a specific moment to focus on immunisation; lack of salience of the benefits of immunisation for HEWs; mothers falling victim to time inconsistency and planning fallacy in relation to taking their child to immunisation days; and lack of social proof that infants are being immunised.

Source: Datta and Mullainathan (2012)

The preliminary design addressed these elements by including an improved tracking system that provided: visual feedback for HEWs; a time-specific message that encouraged HEWs to accurately plan for immunisation clinics; and social proof to give positive feedback to HEWs on their accomplishments and to demonstrate to mothers in the village that other women were immunising their babies.

The initial groundwork for this programme was initiated in 2010 in Ethiopia by MSI-E using an e-voucher intervention, which inspired the Ministry of Health to start the development of the ECIIN. The network, paired with the Frontline SMS system, was meant to send mobile-owning households and HEWs automated SMS messages about the long-term importance of vaccines, reminders about upcoming visits and information on missed visits, and the facility to register and issue e-vouchers.

The intervention planned to introduce behaviourally informed messaging into this system. Unfortunately, the ECIIN was never fully funded and the project was cancelled, so we could not include SMS in our final intervention. In each treatment HP, one poster was put up for HEWs to use. The quantity of symbol cut-outs provided to HEWs was not monitored, nor did the team collect information on how the posters were maintained. Implementation fidelity was assessed using a self-reported measure from the HEWs. However, because we could not verify how these assessments were made, we did not use them in our analysis.

In addition to cancellation of the ECIIN programme, there was unrest in the Oromia region during the project implementation phase, stemming from a land dispute between the federal government and some residents of the region. The unrest led to violence and deaths, with reports of journalists being detained. Initially, MSI-E reported that its activities in the zones we selected for the intervention were not significantly affected in the area, thus we did not add more intervention areas. However, the unrest later spread, and some intervention areas were affected (Table 3).

The political situation was the major challenge to implementation of the intervention. It resulted in the delay of training and several postponements in training schedules. The SMS intervention was not implemented because of internet service inaccessibility that resulted from the state of emergency declared by the Ethiopian government. Additionally, due to the unrest at the time of the implementation, some HPs lost records that would have served as an input as they had started using the posters, and many HEWs changed positions to live in more stable areas.

The ongoing unrest made it difficult for MSI-E to carry out all monitoring activities and for Zerihun Associates to complete the post-intervention qualitative interviews. As a result of this unrest, monitoring of exposure to treatment was not implemented according to the pre-analysis plan (PAP).

### 4. Impact analysis and results of key evaluation questions

In the baseline report, we found low literacy rates and a high proportion of traditional dwellings and households that were on the lower end of the wealth spectrum. We also found significant room for improvement in health behaviour, especially in the realm of immunisation. While rates for immunisation at birth were found to be high in the baseline survey, the rates dropped sharply for subsequent vaccination. Only 44 per cent of

children in treatment and control areas were vaccinated with the final vaccination (measles at nine months). Outcomes were either recorded from children's immunisation cards or self-reported by children's caregivers or the person in the household who completed the survey. Since the number of cases of missing values was small, we omitted those values from the analysis.

With regard to the baseline balance, we provide the full results in the baseline report and appendixes of this report. Appendix Tables I1 and I2 provide the full set of covariates we test for balance. The tables show that some covariates are not balanced at baseline. We adjust for this in our analysis by including characteristics where we do not achieve balance in our treatment effect regressions to determine whether this imbalance impacts the treatment effect. As shown below, we do not observe substantive changes in the measured treatment effect when controlling for these unbalanced variables.

One reason for this is that because of our large sample size, we can have statistical difference even when variables differ by an amount that is not economically meaningful. For example, although distance to nearest HP differs statistically, the difference in means is 4.8 minutes, which we assess not to be an economically meaningful driver of care-seeking behaviour.

Further, the level of difficulty in travelling to HPs also differs, but this difference is also not meaningful. Some 49 per cent of respondents in control areas, and 47 per cent in treatment areas, reported that travel to the nearest HP is very easy. We add this context to the text to clarify how we address imbalance in the analysis (see Appendix Tables I1 and I2 for the full set of covariates we test for balance).

Overall, we test 539 covariates for balance. Among the continuous variables tested for balance, we find 5 of 21 unbalanced at baseline. Among the categorical variables tested for balance, we find 225 of 518 unbalanced. However, these are not independent observations because this calculation includes each category of a given variable in a separate t-test. If one category is unbalanced, it is likely that most or all others will be as well.

In addition, as described above, although we observe more unbalanced variables than would be predicted by randomly drawing from a distribution where the mean difference is zero, these differences are overall not economically meaningful. Finally, when we observe imbalance in a variable that could impact immunisation behaviour, we include it in our controls and do not observe substantive differences in our treatment effects.

#### 4.1 Immunisation outcomes

When looking at summary statistics from the follow-up survey, we found that in our sample 86.5 per cent of children received all three doses of DPT and PCV (85.9% in the treatment group and 87.1% in the control group). From baseline to the follow-up surveys, the level of full dose DPT/PCV immunisation increased substantially, from a rate of 59% to 87%. Full descriptive statistics are in Appendix H.

Our main regression results on our primary outcomes of interest show the proportion of children receiving a full dose of DPT/PCV, the proportion of children with incomplete immunisation and the proportion of children with full immunisation (Table 1).

	Control (C)		Treatment (T)			Difference (C-T)		
	Mean	SE	Mean	SE		Mean	SE	
Full dose of DPT/PCV	0.8705	0.0079	0.8590	0.008		0.0114	0.0112	
n	1,784		1,902					
Incomplete immunisation	0.0532	0.0053	0.0573	0.00533		-0.004	0.0075	
n	1,784		1,902					
Full immunisation	0.7247	0.0105	0.7208	0.0103		0.0039	0.0147	
n	1,784		1,902					
Measles coverage	0.8160	0.0094	0.8181	0.0091		-0.0021	0.0131	
n	1,680		1,771					
No immunisation/missing	0.062	0.0057	0.0720	0.0059		-0.0098	0.0082	
n	1,784		1,902					

## Table 1: Summary statistics from follow-up survey of primary and secondary outcomes

Note: SE= standard error; no immunisation/missing category represents an indicator variable for children who received either no immunisation or all immunisation data were missing.

Table 2 presents the regression counterparts of the final results, where panel A shows results for all households and panel B reproduces those results using only the subset of households with immunisation status confirmed using vaccination cards. Panel A, columns 1–3 show the results for regressions where the dependent variable is the probability of receiving all three doses of DPT/PCV. Panel A, columns 4–6 and 7–9 show the equivalent results when the dependent variable measures the probability of incomplete immunisation and the probability of a child being fully immunised, respectively. In all cases, the coefficient of interest is that on the treatment status.

All regressions are ordinary least squares, with robust standard errors clustered at the HP level. The basic specifications (columns 1, 4 and 7) have no additional controls; columns 2, 5 and 6 add controls for stratification variables (use of HEW outreach, recognition of intervention, sex of child, distance to HP and ease of travel to HP); and columns 3, 6 and 9 add controls for demographic variables that were unbalanced at baseline. The data point 'missing' refers to children in households where no follow-up data were recorded or were incorrectly entered. Since we were unable to report on their final immunisation status, they were assumed to not have been immunised (6% of children in the control group and 7% of children in the treatment group).

We observe that there is no statistically significant treatment effect on full dose of DPT/PCV across model specifications. The mean difference in full dose DPT/PCV between treatment and control HPs implies a non-significant reduction of 1.13 percentage points (p-value = 0.506) from the behavioural intervention. However, when we include controls for household- and HP-level characteristics, we observe that full dose DPT/PCV is a non-significant 1.05 percentage points (p = 0.527) higher in treatment areas compared to control areas.

Since 87 per cent of the children sampled received a full dose of DPT/PCV at follow-up in control areas, these non-significant treatment effects represent less than a 1.3 per cent change in full doses received. Given that the treatment effect changes sign across specifications, is not statistically significant in either specification and represents a small percentage magnitude change, we conclude that this treatment effect is a well-estimated null.

#### Table 2: Linear regression results, primary outcomes

#### Panel A: All respondents

	Probability of DPT/PC	y of receiving V	all 3 doses	Probability immunisa	Probability of incomplete immunisation			Probability of being fully immunised			
Independent variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		
Treatment	-0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.00	-0.01	-0.003	0.01	0.01		
(SE)	(0.0173)	(0.0162)	(0.0166)	(0.0084)	(0.0090)	(0.0090)	(0.0321)	(0.0296)	(0.0283)		
p-value	0.506	0.981	0.527	0.671	0.733	0.483	0.924	0.587	0.574		
Baseline value	0.06***	0.04***	0.04***	0.02*	0.01	0.01	0.05***	0.04**	0.04**		
	(0.0139)	(0.0134)	(0.0139)	(0.0106)	(0.0111)	(0.0115)	(0.0187)	(0.019)	(0.0191)		
Stratification variables	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes		
Unbalanced variables	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes		
Constant	0.84***	0.81***	0.87***	0.05***	0.05***	-0.003	0.71***	0.63***	0.64***		
	(0.0157)	(0.0238)	(0.0543)	(0.01)	(0.0107)	(0.0327)	(0.0228)	(0.031)	(0.0954)		
Observations	3,686	3,165	2,946	3,686	3,165	2,946	3,686	3,165	2,946		
R-squared	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.001	0.002	0.01	0.003	0.01	0.03		

Note: SE= standard error; robust standard errors in parentheses: \*\*\* p < 0.01, \*\* p < 0.05, \* p < 0.1

	Probability of DPT/PC	y of receiving V	all 3 doses	Probability of incomplete immunisation			Probability of being fully immunised		
Independent variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Treatment	-0.0338	-0.0097	0.0126	-0.0175	-0.0138	-0.0228	-0.0505	-0.0318	-0.0489
(SE)	(0.0472)	(0.0459)	(0.0443)	(0.0170)	(0.0199)	(0.0211)	(0.0532)	(0.0513)	(0.0470)
p-value	0.465	0.745	0.843	0.311	0.639	0.361	0.337	0.532	0.297
Baseline value	0.186***	0.164***	0.157***	0.0315	0.0182	0.0131	0.118***	0.112***	0.0978***
	(0.0337)	(0.0329)	(0.0351)	(0.0246)	(0.0280)	(0.0298)	(0.0331)	(0.0341)	(0.0343)
Stratification variables	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Unbalanced variables	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Constant	0.564***	0.527***	0.557***	0.0917***	0.0894***	0.0713	0.478***	0.402***	0.360**
	(0.0405)	(0.0604)	(0.121)	(0.0132)	(0.0269)	(0.0971)	(0.0387)	(0.0562)	(0.181)
Observations	1.054	875	788	1.054	875	788	1.054	875	788
R-squared	0.039	0.059	0.129	0.003	0.010	0.024	0.015	0.037	0.112

Panel B: Respondents who were able to verify immunisation status with vaccination card only

Note: SE= standard error; robust standard errors in parentheses: \*\*\* p < 0.01, \*\* p < 0.05, \* p < 0.1

Table 2, panel A, columns 4–6 show results for the same models, but with incomplete immunisation as the outcome. We observe a similar pattern of small, non-significant changes to dropout. In column 4, the treatment coefficient is slightly positive at 0.004 (p-value = 0.671), but with full controls we observe a treatment effect of –0.006 (p-value = 0.483). We also observe a sharp drop in the percentage of children with incomplete DPT immunisations from almost 20 per cent at baseline to 5.5 per cent at follow-up.

Finally, panel A, columns 7–9 show the same models for full immunisation. The pattern is again similar, with treatment effects that are small and non-significant. Over the study period, the change in full immunisation is even more substantial than the other two outcomes, rising from 33 per cent at baseline to 72 per cent at follow-up. Overall, these results also support the conclusion from columns 1–3 that the behavioural intervention generated a well-estimated null impact.

Table 2, panel B shows similar results to panel A. All treatment effect coefficients across the three primary outcomes and model specifications are not statistically significant and are of small magnitude in terms of potential health impact. Although all treatment effect coefficients are negative point estimates, no p-values are below 0.25. Overall, this robustness check reinforces our interpretation of a well-estimated null result from regressions using all respondents.

In Table 3 we explore how civil strife affected the primary outcomes. The panels have the same controls per columns as Table 2. We find larger treatment effects in places with rare civil strife. The 'treatment rare civil unrest' row looks at the interaction between civil unrest and treatment status and the differential performance of HPs located in areas with rare or frequent civil unrest. In Panel A, the coefficient is positive, showing that areas with rare civil unrest have a higher probability of receiving all doses of DPT/PCV, but not in a statistically significant way. However, these coefficients give us a sense of what the treatment effect might have been if there had been no outbreak of civil unrest.

	Panel A: P 3 doses of	robability of r DPT/PCV	eceiving all	Panel B: Probability of incomplete immunisation			lity of incomplete Panel C: Probability of being fully immunised		
Independent variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Treatment (SE)	-0.0107	0.00525	0.0049	-0.00104	-0.000835	-0.0043	-0.0109	0.0130	0.0104
	(0.0196)	(0.0182)	(0.0190)	(0.0099)	(0.0106)	(0.0107)	(0.0354)	(0.0320)	(0.0303)
Constant	0.828***	0.802***	0.858***	0.0521***	0.0493***	-0.0127	0.712***	0.633***	0.636***
	(0.0161)	(0.0260)	(0.0502)	(0.0070)	(0.0117)	(0.0337)	(0.0239)	(0.0353)	(0.0862)
Baseline value	0.0581***	0.0442***	0.0418***	0.0203*	0.0148	0.0136	0.0489***	0.0392**	0.0423**
	(0.0136)	(0.0132)	(0.0139)	(0.0106)	(0.0111)	(0.0116)	(0.0186)	(0.0190)	(0.0192)
Rare civil unrest	0.0300	0.0446	0.0112	-0.00936	-0.00462	0.0141	-0.0142	-0.000747	-0.000735
	(0.0295)	(0.0274)	(0.0311)	(0.0114)	(0.0123)	(0.0140)	(0.0558)	(0.0572)	(0.0549)
Treatment*rare civil unrest	0.0105	-0.0124	0.0275	0.0207	0.0140	-0.0076	0.035	0.00707	0.0210
	(0.0374)	(0.0374)	(0.0333)	(0.0182)	(0.0193)	(0.0168)	(0.0748)	(0.0776)	(0.0715)
Stratification variables	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Unbalanced variables	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
Observations	3,686	3,165	2,946	3,684	3,165	2,946	3,686	3,165	2,946
R-squared	0.009	0.013	0.027	0.002	0.002	0.011	0.003	0.01	0.03

Table 3: Heterogeneous treatment effects on areas with civil strife (primary outcomes)

Note: SE= standard error; robust standard errors in parentheses: \*\*\* p < 0.01,

\*\* p < 0.05, \* p < 0.1

From the baseline survey to the follow-up survey, the control group saw a slightly higher but non-significant percentage of households dropping out of the survey, with 93.8 per cent of treatment households and 92.2 per cent of control households remaining in the survey (Table 4).

	Treatment (T)	Control (C)	Difference (T-C)	p-value
Yes				
# cases	83	106	-1.6	0.08
% of cases	6.17	7.85		
No	1,262	1,243		
# of cases				
% of cases	93.83	92.15		

#### Table 4: Survey attrition

#### 4.2 HEW service provision outcomes

Table 5 shows the relationship between HEW household visits and the behavioural intervention. We show that the mean difference between treatment and control areas in HEW visits is 7.5 percentage points (p = 0.068) with no controls. As we add controls, we see that the treatment effect exhibits marginal statistical significance (p-value < 0.10) for all models except for the final one, which includes controls for variables that are unbalanced at baseline. Even in this model, we find a point estimate that indicates 4.3 percentage points more households receive a HEW visit in treatment than control. This represents a 7.7 per cent increase in HEW visits (p-value = 0.2). Although marginally significant across some models, these results indicate that treatment may have induced changes to HEWs' behaviour and effort.

Table 5: Linear regression results for effect of intervention on HEW household
visits

	1	2	3	4			
Variables	HEW home visit						
Treatment group	0.0741*	0.0670*	0.0559*	0.0414			
	(0.0407)	(0.0387)	(0.0341)	(0.0338)			
Constant	0.554***	0.471***	0.405***	0.297**			
	(0.0268)	(0.0299)	(0.0328)	(0.118)			
Household ever visited by HEW		0.162***	0.124***	0.101***			
		(0.0268)	(0.0251)	(0.0248)			
Sex of child			-0.0103	0.00535			
			(0.0155)	(0.0165)			
HEW recognition for good performance		0.0878**	0.0876**				
			(0.0362)	(0.0368)			
Difficult to travel to HP			-0.0971**	-0.0241			
			(0.0418)	(0.0462)			
Heard of intervention poster			0.335***	0.291***			
			(0.0266)	(0.0302)			
Sex of head of household				0.0912*			
				(0.0474)			
Orthodox Christian				0.273***			
				(0.0597)			

Catholic Christian				0.0106
Protestant Christian				0.0774*
Market				(0.0417)
Musiim				0.0815 (0.0531)
Other religion				3.41e–05**
				(0.0000)
Traditional house (hut made from thatch or mud)				0.100***
inuu)				(0.0289)
Informal structure or shack				-0.262**
Taut				(0.105)
lent				0.228^^
Goes to bed feeling hungry				-0.0161
6 6 7				(0.0119)
Minutes to walk from home to HP				-0.00244***
HD moderately equipped for immunications				(0.0008)
HP moderately equipped for immunisations				0.110
HP fairly equipped for immunisations				-0.0107
				(0.104)
HP not equipped at all for immunisations				-0.258**
				(0.108)
Observations	3,443	3,443	3,165	2,946
R-squared	0.006	0.033	0.127	0.193

Note: robust standard errors in parentheses: \*\*\* p < 0.01, \*\* p < 0.05, \* p < 0.1

#### 4.3 Divergence from the PAP

All attempts were made to follow the PAP. Despite this, we were not able to collect some planned *exposure* variables. These included: parity; birth order; birth; if the mother received antenatal care at least four times; and place of delivery. Due to the high number of rural households in our sample (98%), we were also unable to measure how the intervention reduced barriers to immunisation services among rural women, as the comparison group was too small.

Since the Oromia region experienced civil strife during the period of our study, we reported on the impact of the intervention as affected by this strife. As travel was restricted because of intermittent conflict in the region, we were unable to complete rigorous qualitative data collection or analysis. In addition to the analysis we planned in the PAP, which included full immunisation or incomplete immunisation, we also reported which children received a measles immunisation and no immunisations. Additionally, we explored how the intervention impacted the work of the HEWs by exploring self-reported survey data to see the extent to which the intervention increased the frequency of HEW home visits and their self-reported efficacy.

#### 4.4 Cost of the intervention

A total of US\$222,255 in costs was associated with project implementation. This included: project personnel costs of US\$98,367 (44%); travel costs of US\$14,325 (6%); training costs of US\$5,000 (2%); equipment purchases of US\$48,073 (22%); office expenses of US\$28,000 (13%); communication costs of US\$12,701 (6%); and project administration (indirect costs) of US\$15,789 (7%) (Figure 8).



Figure 8: Nature of intervention-related expenditures

Training costs mainly included HEWs' training and workshops. Travel costs were related to domestic travel to project locations. Equipment purchases included smartphones and accessories, ECIIN application equipment, servers and promotional materials. Office expenses included fixed cost support to project field offices.

Cost per participant, obtained by calculating the total expenditure associated with project implementation divided by the total number of participants, was approximately US\$3.31. According to the 2007 Ethiopia population and housing census, the 45 treatment villages in Arsi and East Shewa zones had a total population of 154,170 (CSA 2008). According to both our baseline and endline surveys, each household had an average of two children targeted by the project. Using the Oromia region average household size of 4.6 people (CSA 2008), we found that 67,031 children were direct project targets.

#### 4.5 Contamination

Contamination of control participants has two related effects. It reduces the point estimate of an intervention's effectiveness, and this apparent reduction may lead to a type II error – that is, rejection of an effective intervention as ineffective because the observed effect size was neither statistically nor economically significant. Cluster randomisation is often used to minimise treatment 'contamination' between intervention and control participants.

Table 6 shows whether households in the control group were aware of the intervention. We asked study participants in both treatment and control villages if they had heard of and participated in the 'Protected Children' poster activities.

#### Table 6: Programme participation

		Mean (SE)		Difference	)
	<i>n</i> (sample size)	Treatment (T)	Control (C)	T-C	p-value
% heard about the 'Protected Children' immunisation poster	3,681	0.258 (0.010)	0.205 (0.009)	-0.053	0.000***
% ever participated in 'Protected Children' immunisation poster activities Average number of children who participated in 'Protected Children' poster activities	858	0.721 (0.020)	0.737 (0.023)	0.016	0.599
	625	1.349 (0.036)	1.481 (0.046)	0.132	0.023**

Note: SE= standard error. \* statistical significance at p < 0.10; \*\* statistical significance at p < 0.05; \*\*\* statistical significance at p < 0.01.

About 20 per cent of respondents in the control villages reported having heard about the 'Protected Children' posters; 74 per cent of those who had heard of them reported participating in the poster activities. Although the difference in the proportion of study participants in treatment and control villages who reported having heard about the 'Protected Children' intervention was statistically significant, in absolute terms the difference was small.

Results from a monitoring visit conducted by teams from Zerihun Associates and MSI-E in March 2018 (towards the end of project implementation) showed that there were no HPs in control villages with 'Protected Children' poster interventions, leading us to conclude that the programme participation questions in the questionnaire were not a measure of a spillover effect, but a result of acquiescence bias, where participants respond in agreement to all questions in the survey.

### 5. Recommendations and conclusions

#### 5.1 Discussion

We did not observe changes in immunisation that can be attributed to this intervention. One potential reason is that the data were collected during a time when overall immunisation rates increased rapidly. Given the other health system changes and economic growth that occurred in Ethiopia during data collection, we were not able to differentiate the additional impact of treatment from that underlying upward trend.

Also of note is that the time between baseline and follow-up was substantially extended compared to our PAP because of civil unrest and political instability that occurred in Ethiopia during data collection. These results indicate that even when evidence indicates that behavioural interventions are effective, they must be tested in a wide range of contexts to build evidence on which circumstances maximise the likelihood of impact.

#### 5.1.1 Internal validity

Our study faced various temporal threats. The main threat was the presence of conflict and civil strife in our study region. Due to this instability, many of the original HEWs in our study had to stop working or were moved to more stable regions. Of the original HEWs in the treatment group, 9.2 per cent dropped out before we conducted our followup survey, as compared to only 5.9 per cent of HEWs dropping out in the control group. This change in personnel and the closure of some HPs due to civil strife may have led to our intervention having little to no effect on vaccination rates. At the same time, we also observed an overall increase in immunisation rates, suggesting that the unrest might not have been the main reason for insignificant treatment effects.

Our study also had potential measurement effects. Since the stamp system called attention to vaccinations in the treatment group, HEWs knew they were being observed for childhood immunisations. This could have led them to focus their time on immunisation to the detriment of their other duties. However, the results for full immunisation use or incomplete immunisation came from household surveys, so the HEWs' knowledge of the intervention would not change how immunisation was reported by the caregivers. Our choice of testing instruments was also open to bias. The household and HEW surveys had a high potential for receiving answers skewed by response bias.

Households without immunisation cards to which the surveyor could refer might have stated that their children where immunised if they thought that was the 'right' answer. Additionally, HEWs might have reported more household visits or higher efficacy than they really felt, also as a result of social desirability bias. In our attempt to discover whether households in the control group were aware of the intervention, we asked both arms if they participated in 'Protected Children' poster activities. A total of 73.8 per cent of the control group and 72.3 per cent of the treatment group replied 'yes', leading us to conclude that this question was not a measure of a spillover effect, but rather the result of acquiescence bias.

The internal validity for this project was also affected by lack of qualitative research to confirm and explore our quantitative findings. As a result of the civil strife in the region, our study sites were intermittently inaccessible during the latter half of implementation and throughout our evaluation. This made conducting qualitative interviews with HEWs and households difficult. Thus, we were unable to discover the reasons behind the null effects found in our study.

#### 5.1.2 External validity

Oromia was selected in part for its low immunisation rate (12%); therefore, this limits the generalisability of the results to regions of Ethiopia with higher immunisation rates. However, given the overall low rates in Ethiopia, as well as particularly low rates among the lowest socio-economic strata, this may not be a major concern. Nonetheless, the results from this evaluation may be most relevant to other low-performing regions in Ethiopia rather than to all regions.

As this is the only intervention we are aware of that has attempted to use a behaviourally designed reminder poster to increase childhood immunisations, we are unable to say if

our findings are congruent with existing evidence. This study was the first attempt to study the use of community feedback and nonmonetary incentives to improve vaccination outcomes.

#### 5.1.3 Impact of the deviation from treatment design on the results

The implementation of this intervention had very low fidelity to the original design. This intervention was designed with the expectation that the SMS message portion could be rolled out as part of the ECIIN, an immunisation tracking programme that planned to have HEWs report immunisation dates and mother and child data using SMS messages. Due to data issues and conflict in the region, ECIIN was cancelled. A large portion of the treatment design was based on the use of SMS messages with HEWs to: (1) remind them to check the 'Protected Children' posters to see which households needed a reminder about the upcoming immunisation clinics; (2) record immunisation outcomes; and (3) tell them how their work compared with that of their peers.

Since ECIIN was cancelled, we could not use the system to track the few text reminders that were sent out to HEWs, send peer comparison SMS messages or collect data; thus we have no results to report on this arm of the intervention. Additionally, we planned to use vaccination data from the ECIIN system in tandem with vaccination outcomes reported in the surveys.

In our final evaluation, we were only able to capture results from self-reported vaccinations in surveyed households; therefore, it is likely that we did not capture the actual numbers of fully vaccinated children in both the treatment and control groups. Self-reported vaccination rates open our results up to social desirability bias and acquiescence bias. Since childhood vaccinations are widely recommended by health providers in Ethiopia, it is likely that caregivers know that they are expected to vaccinate their children. Therefore, when asked if they have done so, social desirability bias would lead them to say yes, regardless of the true answer, leading us to overestimate vaccination rates through questionnaire data collection.

With regard to acquiescence bias, our questions were framed in a way that asked if children had received certain vaccines, so the caregiver could easily just say 'yes', again leading us to overestimate the vaccination rate. Both of these biases were likely present during the baseline and follow-up surveys and in the treatment and control groups, leading us to overestimate the overall vaccination rate, but they are unlikely to have affected our null result between treatment and control.

This left only the 'Protected Children' posters with the stamp system to provide positive reinforcement to HEWs regarding their progress, and to provide easy visual tracking as a reminder of which children lacked immunisations in treatment HPs. Additionally, the stamp system was an interactive way for a caregiver to participate in the child's vaccinations (by keeping records with the stamp and ultimately receiving a completion symbol to take home). Since this part of the treatment was rolled out with varying levels of fidelity, it is possible that any increase in vaccination rates in the treatment group could be attributed to this programme; however, the results showed no significant change in full immunisation.

#### 5.1.4 Key lessons

For future research into feedback using salient injunctive norms and nonmonetary incentives in improving vaccination rates, we would recommend incorporating social benchmarking into the feedback. Behavioural economics research shows that providing feedback that enables individuals or communities to benchmark their own performance against that of an appropriate peer group can be an effective spur to action, especially when it primes and leverages a sense of pride in one's group identity and is combined with recognition for improvements and performance. Set up appropriately, such a system can lead to a virtuous cycle wherein individuals and communities strive to achieve higher performance on indicators that are rewarded, albeit non-monetarily (Cook and Berrenberg 1981). Providing feedback to individuals has been shown to improve prosocial and community outcomes.

In a healthcare context, performance quality increased among cardiac surgeons in the US who were given new feedback on their performance, compared to financial incentives (Kolstad 2013). A study on water conservation in Costa Rica demonstrated that providing households with feedback on their own water usage, and descriptive social norms of their community's water usage, reduced household water usage by 3.7–5.6% (Datta et al. 2015). Similar conservation results were found by providing feedback to households on electricity usage in the US (Allcott 2011).

In these cases, individual feedback resulted in improved community outcomes through changes in individual choices. We hope to build upon the literature by investigating the effect of the interaction between providing simultaneous, actionable and supportive feedback to individuals and outcomes for the community as a whole. It is possible that one reason we found null results in this study – whereas other studies using feedback found positive changes (Allcott 2011; Cialdini et al. 2006; Cook and Berrenberg 1981; Datta et al. 2015; Karing 2018; Kolstad 2013) – is that we were unable to incorporate peer comparisons between HEWs into our feedback.

Furthermore, it is important that researchers choose appropriate data sources that allow them to more rigorously verify that improvements are attributable to the intervention. Relying on household baseline and follow-up surveys does not guarantee that you capture all children being vaccinated. It is possible that the households in the survey did not have children younger than two years during the study period, or that they did not keep their own records about vaccination. It would be more appropriate to supplement survey data with vaccination reports from HPs.

Surveys are useful in assessing barriers to vaccinations and determining how households feel about the services provided by HEWs; however, they are not effective for tracking incomplete immunisation or full immunisation coverage. Our study would also have benefitted from an evaluation plan that detailed how to track and record treatment fidelity. Additionally, contingency plans should be incorporated into the evaluation plan in the case of unexpected civil strife.

We recommend that this study be carried out in other settings with low immunisation rates that have better mobile phone coverage and are not experiencing civil strife. This is a low-cost intervention that has the potential to use behaviourally informed feedback and reminder mechanisms to increase rates of vaccination follow-through and motivate HEWs by tapping into their intrinsic motivations. While our study showed no effect, a similar study with the ability to track vaccination rates more rigorously and to ensure treatment fidelity may show a positive effect on increasing immunisation rates and minimising incomplete immunisation.

#### 5.2 Policy implications

Despite the null results of this study, policymakers in Ethiopia still need to explore interventions that can increase immunisation rates, especially in regions prone to civil strife. Immunisations are a cost-effective health intervention that not only reduce morbidity and mortality, but also maximise the full lifetime potential of children and the economic health of the countries in which they live (Bärnighausen et al. 2014).

With a full immunisation rate of only 39 per cent among children aged 12–13 months, it is necessary for the Ethiopian Ministry of Health to try a low-cost intervention A recent study on immunisation default in Ethiopia showed that lack of systems to track defaulters is the main reason for default (Zewdie et al. 2016). The 'Protected Children' posters with the stamp system is a low-cost intervention to fill this gap and potentially decrease default.

To maximise the impact of an immunisation intervention in a large, varied and challenging context, a comprehensive approach involving both larger systemic redesigns and smaller-scale changes is needed. The Ethiopian Ministry of Health has already spearheaded a number of interventions, from encouraging nomadic families to vaccinate their children through community champions (WHO 2012) to rehabilitating and enhancing the temperature-controlled supply chain (Belete et al. 2015). Applying behavioural principles could help to further optimise these improvements – specifically, by using behaviourally informed feedback (Wahlström et al. 2003) to mobilise healthcare workers to improve immunisation rates in tandem with nonmonetary, visual incentives (Kolstad 2013).

## Online appendixes

#### **Online Appendix A: Sample design English**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-A-Sample-Design-English.pdf

#### **Online Appendix B: Sample design Oromo**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-B-Sample-Design-Oromo.pdf

#### **Online Appendix C: Survey instruments**

#### **Online Appendix D: Pre-analysis plan**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-D-Pre-analysis-plan.pdf

#### **Online Appendix E: Sample size and power calculations**

Covered in the main report's section 3.1.4

#### **Online Appendix F: Monitoring plan**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-F-Monitoring-Plan.pdf

#### Online Appendix G: Treatment group and civil unrest by zone

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-G-Treatment-Group-and-Civil-Unrest-by-zone.pdf

#### **Online Appendix H: Descriptive statistics**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-H-Descriptive-Statistics.pdf

#### **Online Appendix I: Balancing tests**

https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2021-03/TW10.1125-Online-appendix-I-Balancing-Tests.pdf

#### **Online Appendix J: Costs**

We do not have this information.

## References

Allcott, H, 2011. Social norms and energy conservation. *Journal of Public Economics* 95, pp.1082–1095.

Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, B, 2012. *No margin, no mission? A field experiment on incentives for pro-social tasks*. Discussion paper, 8834. Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR), London, UK

Banerjee, AV, Duflo, E, Glennerster, R and Kothari, D, 2010. Improving immunisation coverage in rural India: clustered randomised controlled evaluation of immunisation campaigns with and without incentives. *BMJ*, 340, c2220–c2220. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.c2220

Bärnighausen, T, Berkley, S, Bhutta, ZA, Bishai, DM, Black, MM, Bloom, DE, Constenla, D, Driessen, J, Edmunds, J, Evans, D, Griffiths, U, Hansen, P, Hashmani, FN, Hutubessy, R, Jamison, DT, Jha, P, Jit, M, Johnson, H, Laxminarayan, R, Lee, BY, Mhatre, S, Mills, A, Nordström, A, Ozawa, S, Prosser, L, Silver, K, Benn, CS, Standaert, B and Walker, D, 2014. Reassessing the value of vaccines. *The Lancet Global Health* 2, e251–e252. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(13)70170-0

Barofsky, J, Datta, S, Gartoulla, P, Lorenzana, K, Sapkota, S and Spring, H, 2018. *Contraception on a LARC: the effect of a group peer comparison intervention on longacting reversible contraception uptake in Nepal.* Working Paper. New York: ideas42.

Basinga, P, Gertler, PJ, Binagwaho, A, Soucat, AL, Sturdy, J and Vermeersch, CM, 2011. Effect on maternal and child health services in Rwanda of payment to primary health-care providers for performance: an impact evaluation. *The Lancet* 377, pp.1421–1428. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60177-3

Belete, H, Kidane, T, Bisrat, F, Molla, M, Mounier-Jack, S and Kitaw, Y, 2015. Routine immunization in Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Health Development*. 29(1). Available at: https://www.ejhd.org/index.php/ejhd/article/view/1395

Besley, T and Ghatak, M, 2005. Competition and incentives with motivated agents. *American Economic Review* 95, pp.616–636. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1257/0002828054201413

Boco, AG, 2010. *Individual and community level effects on child mortality: an analysis of 28 demographic and health surveys in sub-Saharan Africa*. DHS Working Paper No. 73. Calverton, MD: ICF Macro.

Cialdini, RB, 2003. Crafting normative messages to protect the environment. *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 12, pp.105–109.

Cialdini, RB, Demaine, LJ, Sagarin, BJ, Barrett, DW, Rhoads, K and Winter, PL, 2006. Managing social norms for persuasive impact. *Social Influence* 1, pp.3–15. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/15534510500181459 Cialdini et al. 1990 Cialdini, R. B., Reno, R. R., & Kallgren, C. A. (1990). A focus theory of normative conduct: Recycling the concept of norms to reduce littering in public places. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 58*(6), 1015–1026. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.58.6.1015

Cook, SW and Berrenberg, JL, 1981. Approaches to encouraging conservation behavior: a review and conceptual framework. *Journal of Social Issues* 37, pp.73–107. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4560.1981.tb02627.x

CSA, 2008. 2007 Population and Housing Census of Ethiopia. Addis Ababa. Central Statistical Agency (CSA). Available at: https://www.statsethiopia.gov.et/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/National\_Statistical.pdf

CSA and ICF, 2012. *Ethiopia demographic and health survey 2011*. Addis Ababa and Calverton, MD: Central Statistical Agency (CSA) and ICF International.

CSA and ICF, 2016. *Ethiopia demographic and health survey 2016*. Addis Ababa and Rockville, MD: Central Statistical Agency (CSA) and ICF.

Datta, S and Mullainathan, S, 2012. *Behavioural design: a new approach to development policy*. CGD Policy Paper. 016.2012; Nov. pp.31–64

Datta, S and Mullainathan, S, 2014. Behavioral design: a new approach to development policy. *Review of Income and Wealth* 60, pp.7–35. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12093

Datta, S, Miranda, JJ, Zoratto, LDC, Calvo-González, O, Darling, M and Lorenzana, K, 2015. *A behavioral approach to water conservation: evidence from Costa Rica*. Policy Research Working Paper;No. 7283. World Bank, Washington, DC. World Bank. Available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/22156 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.

Feldstein, LR, Mariat, S, Gacic-Dobo, M, Diallo, MS, Conklin, LM and Wallace, AS, 2017. Global routine vaccination coverage, 2016. *MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report,* 66, pp.1252–1255. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6645a3

Flodgren, G, Eccles, MP, Shepperd, S, Scott, A, Parmelli, E and Beyer, FR, 2011. An overview of reviews evaluating the effectiveness of financial incentives in changing healthcare professional behaviours and patient outcomes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 7*, CD009255. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009255

Karing, A, 2018. Social signaling and childhood immunization: a field experiment in Sierra Leone. PhD dissertation. University of California, Berkeley, CA.

Kolstad, JT, 2013. Information and quality when motivation is intrinsic: evidence from surgeon report cards. *American Economic Review*, 103, pp.2875–2910. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.103.7.2875

Pramanik, S, Ghosh, A, Nanda, RB, de Rouw, M, Forth, P and Albert, S, 2018. Impact evaluation of a community engagement intervention in improving childhood immunization coverage: a cluster randomized controlled trial in Assam, India. *BMC Public Health*, 18(534). Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5458-x

Ryman, TK, Trakroo, A, Wallace, A, Gupta, SK, Wilkins, K, Mehta, P and Dietz, V, 2011. Implementation and evaluation of the Reaching Every District (RED) strategy in Assam, India, 2005–2008. *Vaccine*, 29, pp.2555–2560. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.01.061

Wahlström, R, Kounnavong, S, Sisounthone, B, Phanyanouvong, A, Southammavong, T, Eriksson, B and Tomson, G, 2003. Effectiveness of feedback for improving case management of malaria, diarrhoea and pneumonia – a randomized controlled trial at provincial hospitals in Lao PDR. *Tropical Medicine & International Health,* 8, pp.901–909. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-3156.2003.01105.x

WHO, 2012. *New immunization approach in Ethiopia reaches more children*. Available at: <a href="https://www.who.int/features/2012/immunization\_ethiopia/en/">https://www.who.int/features/2012/immunization\_ethiopia/en/</a> [Accessed 19 December 2018].

WHO, 2019. *WHO recommendations for routine immunization – summary tables*. Available at: <a href="https://www.who.int/immunization/policy/immunization\_tables/en/">https://www.who.int/immunization/policy/immunization\_tables/en/</a> [Accessed 29 July 2019].

Zewdie, A, Letebo, M and Mekonnen, T, 2016. Reasons for defaulting from childhood immunization program: a qualitative study from Hadiya zone, Southern Ethiopia. *BMC Public Health,* 16, p.1240. Available at: doi: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3904-1

## Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://3ieimpact.org/evidencehub/publications/impact-evaluations

*Impacts of electronic case management systems on court congestion in the Philippines,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 133. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

*Impacts of judicial reform in small claims procedures on court congestion in the Philippines,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 132. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

*Impacts of judicial reform in criminal case procedures on court congestion in the Philippines,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 131. Orbeta, AC, Jr, Paqueo, VB and Siddiqi, B, 2021.

*Impacts of the Stimulate, Appreciate, Learn and Transfer community engagement approach to increase immunization coverage in Assam, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 130. Pramanik, S, Ghosh, A, Goswami, A, Das, T, Albert, S, Forth, P and Nanda, R, 2020.

*Impacts of a novel mHealth platform to track maternal and child health in Udaipur, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 129. Nagar, R, Ambiya, MS, Singh, P, Abdullah, H, Banshiwal, V, Stone, L, Manjanatha, D, Venkat, P, Purawat, D, Supatkar, V, Singh, A, Dalal, S and Shahnawaz, M, 2020.

*Impact evaluation of the National Rural Livelihoods Project,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 128. Kochar, A, Barooah, B, Jain, C, Singh, G, Closepet, N, Narayanan, R, Sarkar, R and Shah, R, 2020.

*Impacts of engaging communities through traditional and religious leaders on vaccination coverage in Cross River State, Nigeria,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 127. Oyo-Ita, A, Bosch-Capblanch, X, Ross, A, Hanlon, P, Oku, A, Esu, E, Ameh, S, Oduwole, B, Arikpo, D and Meremikwu, M, 2020.

*Evaluating the impact of interventions to improve full immunisation rates in Haryana, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 126. Banerjee, A, Chandrasekhar, A, Duflo, E, Dalpath, S, Floretta, J, Jackson, M, Kannan, H, Schrimpf, A and Shrestha, M, 2020.

*Impacts of community-led video education to increase vaccination coverage in Uttar Pradesh, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 125. Gurley, N, Shearer, J, Srivastava, Y, Mahapatra, S and Desmond, M, 2020.

*Impact of creative capacity building of local innovators and communities on income, welfare and attitudes in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 124. Nkonya, E, Bashaasha, B, Kato, E, Bagamba, F and Danet, M, 2020.

Impact evaluation of the integrated soil fertility management dissemination programme in *Burkina Faso*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 123. A, Frölich, M, Koussoubé, E, Maïga, E and Varejkova, T, 2020.

The effect of demonstration plots and the warehouse receipt system on integrated soil fertility management adoption, yield and income of smallholder farmers: a study from *Malawi's Anchor Farms*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 122. Michelson, H, Barrett, C, Palm, C, Maertens, A, Mhango, W and Chirwa, E, 2020.

Impacts of linking savings group to formal financial service providers and strengthening their internal group insurance mechanism in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 121. Frölich, M and Nguyen, PL, 2020.

*Promoting latrine use in rural Karnataka using the risks, attitudes, norms, abilities and self-regulation (RANAS) approach*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 120. Friedrich, M, Balasundaram, T, Muralidharan, A, Raman, VR and Mosler, H-J, 2020.

*Impacts of low-cost interventions to improve latrine use and safe disposal of child faeces in rural Odisha, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 119. Caruso, BA, Sclar, GD, Routray, P, Nagel C, Majorin, F, Sola, S, Koehne, W, DeShay, R, Udaipuria, S, Williams, R and Clasen, T, 2020.

*Improving households' attitudes and behaviours to increase toilet use (HABIT) in Bihar, India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 118. Viswanathan, S, Saith, R, Chakraborty, A, Purty, N, Malhotra, N, Singh, P, Mitra, P, Padmanabhan, V, Datta, S, Harris, J, Gidwani, S, Williams, R, Florence, E and Daniel, S, 2020.

*Rebuilding the social compact: urban service delivery and property taxes in Pakistan*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 117. Khwaja, AI, Haq, O, Khan, AQ, Olken, B and Shaukat, M, 2020.

*Rural institutional innovation: can village courts in Bangladesh accelerate access to justice and improve socio-economic outcomes?* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 116. Mattsson, M and Mobarak, AM, 2020.

Using big data to evaluate the impacts of transportation infrastructure investment: the case of subway systems in Beijing, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 115. Li, S and Liu, Y, 2020.

*Community toilet use in Indian slums: willingness-to-pay and the role of informational and supply side constraints*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 113. Armand, A, Augsburg, B, Bancalari A and Trivedi B, 2020.

*Impacts, maintenance and sustainability of irrigation in Rwanda*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 112. Byiringo, E, Jones M, Kondylis F, Loeser J, Magruder, J and Ndahimana, C, 2020.

*Continuous Emissions Monitoring Systems (CEMS) in India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 111. Greenstone, M, Pande, R, Ryan, N and Sudarshan A, 2020.

*Evaluating the impacts of the Dar es Salaam Bus Rapid Transit System*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 110. Morten, M, Bryan, G, Siddiqi, B, Balboni, C, 2020.

Access to safe drinking water: experimental evidence from new water sources in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 109. Cocciolo, S, Ghisolfi, S, Habib, A, Rashid, SMA and Tompsett, A, 2020.

*Impact of alternate wetting and drying on farm incomes and water savings in Bangladesh*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 108. Chakravorty, U, Dar, MH, Emerick, K, 2020.

The effects of vouchers for essential household items on child health, mental health, resilience and social cohesion among internally displaced persons in the Democratic *Republic of Congo*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 107. Quattrochi, J, Bisimwa, G, Thompson, T, van der Windt, P and Voors, M, 2020.

*Measuring impacts of conservation interventions on human well-being and the environment in Northern Cambodia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 106. Clements, T, Neang, M, Milner-Gulland, EJ and Travers, H, 2020.

*The 5 Star Toilet Campaign: improving toilet use in rural Gujarat,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 105. Chauhan, K, Schmidt, WP, Aunger, R, Gopalan, B, Saxena, D, Yashobant, S, Patwardhan, V, Bhavsar, P, Mavalankar, D and Curtis, V, 2020.

How education about maternal health risk can change the gender gap in the demand for family planning in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 104. Ashraf, N, Field, E, Voena, A and Ziparo, R, 2019.

In search of the holy grail: can unconditional cash transfers graduate households out of poverty in Zambia?, Impact Evaluation Report 103. Handa, S, Tembo, G, Natali, L, Angeles, G and Spektor, G, 2019.

*Increasing HIV self-testing and linkage to care for partners of women in antenatal care in Uganda,* Impact Evaluation Report 102. Wanyenze, R, Buregyeya, E, Matovu, J, Kisa, R, Kagaayi, J, Vrana-Diaz, C, Malek, A, Musoke, W, Chemusto, H, Mukama, S and Korte, J, 2019.

*Improving the quality of care for children with acute malnutrition in Uganda*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 101. Marzia, L, Wanzira, H, Lochoro, P and Putoto, G, 2019.

*Impacts of increasing community resilience through humanitarian aid in Pakistan*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 100. Avdeenko, A and Frölich, M, 2019.

*Impacts of community monitoring of socio-environmental liabilities in the Ecuadorian and Peruvian Amazon,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 99. Pellegrini, L, 2019.

*Increasing HIV testing demand among Kenyan truck drivers and female sex workers*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 98. Kelvin, E, George, G, Mwai, E, Kinyanjui, S, Inoti, S, Chetty, T, Strauss, M, Romo, M, Oruko, F, Odhiambo J, Nyaga, E, Mantell, J and Govender, K, 2019.

*Impacts of community stakeholder engagement interventions in Ugandan oil extractives,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 97. Parker, R, Coleman, E, Manyindo, J, Schultz, B and Mukuru, E, 2019.

*The impacts of formal registration of businesses in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 96. Campos, F, Goldstein, M and McKenzie, D, 2019.

Unpacking the determinants of entrepreneurship development and economic empowerment for women in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 95. McKenzie, D, Puerto, S and Odhiambo, F, 2019.

*Impacts of key provisions in Ghana's Petroleum Revenue Management Act,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 94. Edjekumhene, I, Voors, M, Lujala, P, Brunnschweiler, C, Owusu, CK and Nyamekye, A, 2019.

*Using information to break the political resource curse in natural gas management in Mozambique,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 93. Armand, A, Costa, AI, Coutts, A, Vicente, P and Vilela, I, 2019.

Harnessing transparency initiatives to improve India's environmental clearance process for the mineral mining sector, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 92. Pande, R and Sudarshan, A, 2019.

*Impacts of removing user fees for maternal health services on universal health coverage in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 91. Abuya, T, Dennis, M, Matanda, D, Obare, F and Bellows, B, 2018.

*Impact of voice reminders to reinforce harvest aggregation services training for farmers in Mali*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 90. Osei, RD, Dzanku, FM, Osei-Akoto, I, Asante, F, Hodey, LS, Adu, PN, Adu-Ababio, K and Coulibaly, M, 2018.

*Impacts of Breakthrough's school-based gender attitude change programme in Haryana, India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 89. Jayachandran, S, Jain, T and Dhar, D, 2018.

Hotspot interventions at scale: the effects of policing and city services on crime in *Bogotá, Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 88. Blattman, C, Green, D, Ortega, D and Tobón, S, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Philippine Special Program for Employment of Students,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 87. Beam, E, Linden, L, Quimbo, S and Richmond, H, 2018.

*Community-based distribution of oral HIV self-testing kits: experimental evidence from Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 86. Hensen, B, Ayles, H, Mulubwa, C, Floyd, S, Schaap, A, Chiti, B, Phiri, M, Mwenge, L, Simwinga, M, Fidler S, Hayes, R, Bond, V and Mwinga, A, 2018.

*Evaluating the economic impacts of rural banking: experimental evidence from southern India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 85. Field, E and Pande, R, 2018.

Direct provision versus facility collection of HIV tests: impacts of self-testing among female sex workers in Uganda. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 84. Ortblad, K, Musoke, DK, Ngabirano, T, Oldenburg, C and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

*Increasing female sex worker HIV testing: effects of peer educators and HIV self-tests in Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 83. Chanda, MM, Ortblad, KF, Mwale, M, Chongo, S, Kanchele, C, Kamungoma, N, Fullem, A, Bärnighausen, T and Oldenburg, CE, 2018.

*Community delivery of antiretroviral drugs: a non-inferiority matched-pair pragmatic cluster-randomized trial in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 82. Francis, JM, Geldsetzer, P, Asmus, G, Ulenga, N, Ambikapathi, R, Sando, D, Fawzi, W and Bärnighausen, T, 2018.

*Nourishing the future: targeting infants and their caregivers to reduce undernutrition in rural China,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 81. Cai, J, Luo, R, Li, H, Lien, J, Medina, A, Zhou, H and Zhang, L, 2018.

*Impacts of the World Food Programme's interventions to treat malnutrition in Niger.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 80. Brück, T, Ferguson, NTN, Ouédraogo, J and Ziegelhöfer, Z, 2018.

Impact evaluation of the World Food Programme's moderate acute malnutrition treatment and prevention programmes in Sudan. 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 79. Guevarra, E, Mandalazi, E, Balegamire, S, Albrektsen, K, Sadler, K, Abdelsalam, K, Urrea, G and Alawad, S, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of WFP's programs targeting moderate acute malnutrition in humanitarian situations in Chad.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 78. Saboya, M, Rudiger, J, Frize, J, Ruegenberg, D, Rodríguez Seco, A and McMillon, C, 2018.

*Improving midday meal delivery and encouraging micronutrient fortification among children in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 77. Shastry, GK, Berry, J, Mukherjee, P, Mehta, S and Ruebeck, H, 2018.

*Evaluation of infant development centres: an early years intervention in Colombia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 76. Andrew, A, Attanasio, O, Bernal, R, Cordona, L, Krutikova, S, Heredia, DM, Medina, C, Peña, X, Rubio-Codina, M and Vera-Hernandez, M, 2018.

*Can the wounds of war be healed? Experimental evidence on reconciliation in Sierra Leone.* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 75. Cilliers, J, Dube, O and Siddiqi, B, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Menabe and Melaky development programme in Madagascar,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 74. Ring, H, Morey, M, Kavanagh, E, Kamto, K, McCarthy, N, Brubaker, J and Rakotondrafara, C, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the Smallholder Dairy Commercialization Programme in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 73. Bonilla, J, McCarthy, N, Mugatha, S, Rai, N, Coombes, A and Brubaker, J, 2018.

*Impact and adoption of risk-reducing drought-tolerant rice in India*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 72. Yamano, T, Dar, MH, Panda, A, Gupta, I, Malabayabas, ML and Kelly, E, 2018.

*Poverty and empowerment impacts of the Bihar Rural Livelihoods Project in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 71. Hoffmann, V, Rao, V, Datta, U, Sanyal, P, Surendra, V and Majumdar, S 2018.

How should Tanzania use its natural gas? Citizens' views from a nationwide Deliberative *Poll*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 70. Birdsall, N, Fishkin, J, Haqqi, F, Kinyondo, A, Moyo, M, Richmond, J and Sandefur, J, 2018.

*Impact evaluation of the conditional cash transfer program for secondary school attendance in Macedonia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 69. Armand, A and Carneiro, P, 2018.

Age at marriage, women's education, and mother and child outcomes in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 68. Field, E, Glennerster, R, Nazneen, S, Pimkina, S, Sen, I and Buchmann, N, 2018.

*Evaluating agricultural information dissemination in western Kenya*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 67. Fabregas, R, Kremer, M, Robinson, J and Schilbach, F, 2017.

*General equilibrium impact assessment of the Productive Safety Net Program in Ethiopia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 66. Filipski, M, Taylor, JE, Abegaz, GA, Ferede, T, Taffesse, AS and Diao, X, 2017.

*Impact of the Uddeepan programme on child health and nutrition in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 65. Kochar, A, Sharma, A and Sharma, A, 2017.

*Evaluating oral HIV self-testing to increase HIV testing uptake among truck drivers in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 64. Kelvin, EA, Mwai, E, Romo, ML, George, G, Govender, K, Mantell, JE, Strauss, M, Nyaga, EN and Odhiambo, JO, 2017.

Integration of EPI and paediatric HIV services for improved ART initiation in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 63. Prescott, M, Boeke, C, Gotora, T, Mafaune, HW, Motsi, W, Graves, J, Mangwiro, A and McCarthy, E, 2017.

*Increasing male partner HIV testing using self-test kits in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 62. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

*Evaluating the impact of community health worker integration into prevention of motherto-child transmission of HIV services in Tanzania,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 61. Nance, N, McCoy, S, Ngilangwa, D, Masanja, J, Njau, P and Noronha, R, 2017.

*Using HIV self-testing to promote male partner and couples testing in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 60. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Obonyo, B, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2017.

*Increasing male partner HIV self-testing at antenatal care clinics in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 59. Gichangi, A, Korte, JE, Wambua, J, Vrana, C and Stevens, D, 2017.

*Impact of free availability of public childcare on labour supply and child development in Brazil*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 58. Attanasio, O, Paes de Barros, R, Carneiro, P, Evans, D, Lima, L, Olinto, P and Schady, N, 2017.

*Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57. Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017.

*The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian Midwives Service Scheme,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56. Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017. *The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, J, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

*The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South *Africa,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

*The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

*Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016.

*Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

*Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48. Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B, Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

*Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

*The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M, 2016.

*Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45. Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B, 2016.

*Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44. Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A, 2016.

*Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM, 2016.

*Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3*ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S, 2016.

*Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40. Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV, 2016.

*Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39. Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A, 2016.

*Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M, 2016.

*Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37. Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E, 2016.

Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36. Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F, 2016.

*Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C 2016.

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on *livelihoods, governance and forests*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C, 2016.

*The effect of conditional transfers on intimate partner violence: evidence from Northern Ecuador,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 33. Hidrobo, M, Peterman, A and Heise, L, 2016.

*The effect of transfers and preschool on children's cognitive development in Uganda,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 32. Gillian, DO and Roy, S, 2016.

*Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R, 2015.

*Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30. Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K, 2016.

*Smallholder* access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production *decisions,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28. Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A, 2015.

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C and Özler, B, 2015.

*Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E, 2015.

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G, 2015.

*The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala,* Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L, 2014.

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of *Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 23. Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R, 2015.

*A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M, 2015.

Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R, 2015.

*Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20. Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P, 2015.

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E, 2014.

Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. Brooker, S and Halliday, K, 2015.

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults *in rural Nicaragua*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME, 2014.

*The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M, 2014.

*A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V, 2014.

*Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S, 2014.

Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in *Malawi,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13. Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R, 2014.

*Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12. Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R, 2014.

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B, 2014.

*Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10. Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N, 2013.

*No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K, 2013.

*Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y, 2013.

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a communitydriven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P, 2013.

*The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E, 2014.

Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5. Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M, 2014.

Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of *farmers? Evidence from India,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A, 2013.

*The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E, 2013.

*A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI, 2012.

*The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique*, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V, 2012.

Despite substantial economic and development progress, Ethiopia's full immunisation rates remain low, with less than half of children aged 12–13 months being fully immunised. While there have been attempts to involve communities in increasing immunisation rates, most of these interventions have focused either on increasing awareness, or have employed direct, often financial, incentives. Authors of this report evaluate the impact of an intervention that uses a behavioural science approach to increase vaccination coverage in Ethiopia by providing nonmonetary incentives to caregivers and health workers.

#### **Impact Evaluation Series**

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 215-216, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India 3ie@3ieimpact.org

Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

